
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP
 1000 Commerce Drive

  Marquette, Michigan 49855
          Ph | 906.228.6220

Fx | 906.228.7337
www.marquettetownship.org

MARQUETTE TOWNSHIP BOARD - REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, JULY 20, 2021 - 6:30 PM

MARQUETTE TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY CENTER
 

   

1. Call to order
A. Pledge of Allegiance

B. Roll Call
   

2. Public Comment (3 minutes each)This Board is conducting a meeting today to take care of 
Township business. You are allowed to address the Board at least twice tonight, but we will not have 
back-and-forth conversations between the staff, the Board, and the public during Public Comment. For 
Public Comment, or if you would like to speak on a particular agenda item, state your name and 
address and you have three minutes to address the Board. The Board may, but is not required to, 
respond at Board Member Comment immediately following Public Comment. The Board may also 
request follow-up with the Township Manager on some matters addressed during Public Comment.

   

3. Board Member Comment in Response to Public Comment
   

4. Consent Agenda
A. Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes of July 6, 2021

B. Bills Payable in the amount of $253,295.24. Checks 161017 to 161075. Note 
any voided checks.

C. Received Committee and Other Reports

1. Sheriff's Department Activity Report - June 2021

2. MCSWMA (abbreviated) Packet for 7-21-21 meeting

3. University of Michigan Close-up Report July 2021

D. Correspondence not Requiring Board Action

1. Thank you from Representative Sara Cambensy Regarding Securing Grant

E. Financial

1. June 2021 Financial Statement
   

5. Approval of the Agenda (Declaration of Conflict of Interest, if any)
   

6. Board Education/Privileged Comment
A. Staff Reports

1. Fire Department

2. Public Works

Page 1 of 87

http://www.marquettetownship.org/


3. Attorney Report
   

7. Community Linkage (primarily based on the Board’s Annual Plan of Work. Board member 
comment regarding what we are hearing from the external environment about township issues and 
activities.)

A. Dark Store Theory/Tax Tribunal Update
   

8. Policy Discussion, Consideration and Development
A. Consider Road Committee Future

B. Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Clerk

C. Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Treasurer.
   

9. Assurance of Organizational Performance
A. Board – Committee Updates

B. DRAFT Committee Reports
   

10. Public Comment (3 Minutes maximum)
   

11. Meeting Wrap-up
A. Announcements

B. Manager’s Report

C. Review of Motions Passed & Assignments, if any

D. Items for Future Agenda 

E. Board Member Comment 
   

12. Adjournment
 

Next Scheduled Meeting Date is August 3, 2021

Page 2 of 87



1

MARQUETTE TOWNSHIP BOARD
MINUTES

TUESDAY, JULY 6, 2021 - 6:30 PM
MARQUETTE TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY CENTER

 
Call to order:
Supervisor Durant called the Meeting to Order at 6:36PM.

Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call
Members present:       Lyn Durant, Supervisor
                                    Randy Ritari, Clerk
                                    Ernest Johnson, Treasurer
                                    Linda Winslow, Trustee
                                    Dan Everson, Trustee
                                    John Markes, Trustee
                                    Pete LaRue, Trustee
 
Staff present:               Jon Kangas, Township Manager
                                    Roger Zappa, Township Attorney
                                    Lenny Bodenus, Superintendent of Public Works

Committee Members
Present:                      Tom Bronken, Township Library Advisory Council

Public Comment (3 minutes each):
None

Board Member Comment in Response to Public Comment:
None

Consent Agenda:

Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes of June 15, 2021.

Bills Payable in the amount of $219,221.22. Checks 160954 to 161016. Note any voided checks.

Page 3 of 87



2

Received Committee and Other Reports

July 2021 Utility Billing Calendar

Correspondence not Requiring Board Action

"Smart" Street Lights

MCSWMA Meeting Minutes 6-16-21

Financial

Budget Amendment 2021-05

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                                                       Budget Amendment No. 2021-05
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        July 6, 2021

 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MARQUETTE

FY 2021 BUDGET RESOLUTION
 

     WHEREAS, it is the responsibility of the Marquette Township Board to establish General and Special Appropriations Acts for the purpose of 
budgeting Township finances in a manner which does not allow expenditure, including any accrued deficits, to exceed revenues, including any available 
unappropriated surpluses, and,
     WHEREAS, the Marquette Township Board recognizes that unforeseen activities may require amendments to these Appropriations Acts, such 
amendments shall be made by either formal resolution of the Marquette Township Board; or, by a ten percent (10%) of budget center contingency transfer 
authorized by the Township Manager, in such a manner so as not to allow the total expenditures, including accrued deficits, to exceed revenues and 
unappropriated surpluses; and,
     WHEREAS, the Marquette Township Appropriations Acts for 2021 do not permit deviations which cause expenditures for any activity to exceed 
budgeted amounts without amendment to the Act by the Marquette Township Board or the aforementioned contingency transfer; and,
     WHEREAS, the Marquette Township Board has duly reviewed the budgets for the General Appropriations Act and the Special Appropriations Act, 
both Acts include all funds of the Charter Township of Marquette, at public hearings of the Marquette Township Board,
     THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Marquette Township Board hereby amends the Appropriations Acts for 2021 in accordance with 
budgetary information presented to this Board and the limitations defined within this Resolution.

                                                    Current Budget   Amended Budget       Change

            
General Fund    
  Expenditures    
   Township Board          26,854         28,854       2,000
   Fund Balance     1,107,470     1,105,470     (2,000)
Solid Waste Fund    
 Expenditures    
  Waste/Refuse Collection/Disposal         270,019       290,019      20,000     
  Contingency           20,000                     0     (20,000)  

Page 4 of 87



3

 
   Authorization is requested for an additional $2,000 in the General Fund Township Board Department.  The annual dues include $1,900 
for access to educational courses (something new for this year, thus not budgeted).  Also, the actual dues increased by four percent.
    Also requested is to reclassify expenditures in the Solid Waste Fund to accommodate increasing costs for the First Wednesday 
Rubbish drop-off.  The service has been costing an average of over $3,500 per month, while it is budgeted for $1,917 per month.   

Public Act 202 Pension Report 2020

State of Michigan Qualifying Statement

2021 Road Maintenance Progress Billing Invoice - Fahrner Asphalt Sealers

MOTION:  To approve the Consent Agenda as presented.
Motion – Treasurer Johnson
Second – Trustee Markes
                                                                                    Roll Call Vote:
                                                                                                Supervisor Durant - Aye
                                                                                                Clerk Ritari - Aye                 
                                                                                                Treasurer Johnson -Aye
                                                                                                Trustee Markes -Aye
                                                                                                Trustee Winslow- Aye
                                                                                                Trustee Everson - Aye
                                                                                                Trustee LaRue - Aye            
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Approval of the Agenda:

MOTION:  To approve the Regular Agenda as presented.
Motion – Trustee Everson
Second – Clerk Ritari                     
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Board Education/Privileged Comment:

Library Report
Tom Bronken, Township Library Advisory Council, gave a verbal report on the what is going on at Peter 
White Public Library.

Page 5 of 87



4

Draft Peter White Public Library Minutes of June 15, 2021

MOTION:  To move agenda item 9.A. Consider Appointment of Paul Marin to Peter White Public 
Library Township Advisory Council to complete a 4-year term ending 12/31/2024 to 6.B.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee Everson   
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Consider Appointment of Paul Marin to Peter White Public Library Township Advisory Council to 
complete a 4-year term ending 12/31/2024

MOTION:  To appoint  Paul Marin to Peter White Public Library Township Advisory Council to 
complete a 4-year term ending 12/31/2024.
Motion – Supervisor Durant
Second – Treasurer Johnson
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Community Linkage :

Clerk Ritari, commented he has a complaint about Fireworks from a resident, he advised them to call 911 
and report the violation to law enforcement.

Supervisor Durant, commented about the Flowers that have been planted at the Township Signs, PFAS 
information, and the County Master Plan.

Policy Discussion, Consideration and Development:

Consider MTA Principles of Governance

MOTION:  To Approve the MTA Principles of Governance and authorize the Board Members to 
sign the Document.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee Markes   
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Consider acceptance of low bid for Northwoods hydrant installation.
(Background from Superintendent Bodenus)

MOTION:  Approve low bid for the installation of a valve and hydrant assembly at the 
Northwoods Tank from Oberstar, Inc in the amount of $17,450.

Page 6 of 87



5

Motion – Trustee Markes
Second – Clerk Ritari
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Consider acceptance of Stantec proposal
(Background from Manager Kangas/Superintendent Bodenus)

MOTION:  Approve Stantec’s proposal to perform an affordability and planning financial analysis 
of the water fund in the amount of $39,425 and authorize the Township Supervisor to sign the 
agreement.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee Markes   
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Adopt Resolution for Non-motorized Path, MDOT Contract Number 21-5084

Marquette Charter Township Resolution
 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) and Marquette Charter Township 
are proposing the construction of a non-motorized path along the north side of Highway US-41/M-
28 from Commerce Drive to Wright Street, which will be constructed 
independent of the trunk line roadway; and

 
WHEREAS, a Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) Grant application has received 
commitment for the construction of the path; and

 
WHEREAS, Marquette Charter Township will enter into an agreement, Contract Number
21-5084, with MDOT to: own, operate and maintain the non-motorized path; and to pay a local 
match of $42,900.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, Marquette Charter Township specifically authorizes the Township
Supervisor and Township Clerk to sign Contract Number 21-5084.

 
ADOPTED BY ROLL CALL VOTE:

 
YEAS:                                                                                                                                                   

 
NAYS:                                                                                                                                                   

 
ABSENT:                                                                                                                                               

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN                    )

)
 ss. COUNTY OF MARQUETTE 
 )

 

Page 7 of 87



6

Randy J. Ritari, the duly qualified and acting Township Clerk of the Charter Township 
of Marquette, Marquette County, Michigan, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that the 
foregoing is a true and complete copy of certain proceedings taken by the Township Board 
of said Township at a regular meeting held on the 6th day of July, 2021.

 
 
                                                                                         ______________________________                                      
                                               

Township Clerk – Randy J. Ritari

Approve Deputy Treasurer Job Description
(Background from Manager Kangas)

MOTION:  Approve the Deputy Treasurer job description as presented.
Motion – Trustee Markes
Second – Trustee Everson
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Approve Assessor (MAAO Level 3)/Assistant Treasurer Job Description
(Background from Manager Kangas)

MOTION:  Approve the Assessor (MAAO Level 3)/Assistant Treasurer job description as 
presented.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee Markes   
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Approve Revised Assessor (MCAO Level 2) Job Description
(Background from Manager Kangas) 

MOTION:  Approve the revised Assessor (MCAO Level 2) job description as presented.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee LaRue                     
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Approve Revised Secretary/Cashier Job Description
(Background from Manager Kangas)

MOTION:  Approve the revised Secretary/Cashier job description as presented.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Treasurer Johnson                     
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Page 8 of 87



7

Assurance of Organizational Performance:

Board – Committee Updates

Planning Commission
Trustee Winslow, gave a brief Planning Commission Report.

Recreation Committee
Trustee Everson, no report.

Events Committee
Trustee LaRue, gave a brief report, thanked everyone who participated and contributed to the Car Show, 
and reminded everyone about Community Day coming up on August 7th at the Lions Field Recreation 
Complex.

DRAFT Committee Reports
Manager Kangas, gave a brief update from the DDA.

Public Comment (3 Minutes maximum):
None

Meeting Wrap-up:

Announcements
Clerk Ritari, commented at the Civic Clerk software is up and running and is making the operation more 
efficient.

Manager’s Report
Manager Kangas, presented his written report.

Review of Motions Passed & Assignments, if any
Clerk Ritari, reviewed all motions from the meeting and any action items that needed to be done.

Items for Future Agenda 
Directors Report from Solid Waste, Meet the New Staff Planner, Future of the Road Committee, and 
Board Photo - August 17, at 6:15PM if Weather Permitting.

Page 9 of 87



8

Board Member Comment 

Trustee Winslow, commented about the Township being present at the openings of new businesses in the 
township, and commented about the various cleanup dates in the near future.

Clerk Ritari, commented that we had another excellent audit from our Auditors and everything has been 
filed with the State.

Trustee LaRue, thanked Super One Foods again, for contributing to the Car Show.

Adjournment:

MOTION:  To Adjourn the meeting.
Motion – Clerk Ritari
Second – Trustee Winslow   
                                                                                    Carried (7-0)

Supervisor Durant adjourned the meeting at 8:07PM.

______________________________ _______________________________
Randy J. Ritari, Township Clerk   Lyn J. Durant, Township Supervisor 

Page 10 of 87



Page 11 of 87



Page 12 of 87



Page 13 of 87



Page 14 of 87



Page 15 of 87



Page 16 of 87



Page 17 of 87



Page 18 of 87



Page 19 of 87



Page 20 of 87



Page 21 of 87



Page 22 of 87



Page 23 of 87



Page 24 of 87



Page 25 of 87



Page 26 of 87



Page 27 of 87



Page 28 of 87



Page 29 of 87



Page 30 of 87



Page 31 of 87



Page 32 of 87



7/6/21

Dear Supervisor Durant,

Below is a link to a new report from the University of Michigan's Center for Local, State, and Urban 
Policy (CLOSUP) which presents Michigan local government leaders’ views on the direction in which 
the state is headed, and their evaluations of the job performance of Governor Gretchen Whitmer 
and the Michigan Legislature.

In the Spring 2021 Michigan Public Policy Survey (MPPS), CLOSUP surveyed local government 
leaders like you from 1,364 Michigan jurisdictions (counties, cities, townships, and villages). 

Local leaders’ assessments of whether Michigan is headed in the “right direction” have declined 
sharply compared with last year. Two-thirds
(67%) of Michigan’s local officials say that the state has gotten off on the “wrong track” in 2021, 
compared with 46% who said the same at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in spring 2020. 
As in prior years, these assessments, as well as the evaluations of the Governor and Legislature, 
correspond closely to local leaders’ partisan identification. 

The report's key findings are summarized below, and the full report is available online at: 
myumi.ch/7ZyGK

You can read or download the report from the website, or if you contact us here at CLOSUP 
(closup-mpps@umich.edu or 734-647-4091), we would be happy to email you a PDF version.

***

Key Findings:

Statewide, two-thirds (67%, a record high) of Michigan’s local officials said in April and May 2021 
that the state has gotten off on the wrong track, while less than a quarter (23%, a record low) say 
the state is generally going in the right direction. Consistent with prior surveys, there are wide 
gaps in these assessments across partisan identification.
Among self-identified Republican local leaders, just 10% say the state is going in the right direction 
(down from 26% in 2020). Among officials who identify as Independents, 24% now say that 
Michigan is going in the right direction (down from 39% last year).  Meanwhile, local officials who 
self-identify as Democrats are the most likely to express optimism about the direction of the state 
(63%), although this is also down from the 72% last year. 

Despite pessimism of the direction of both the State of Michigan and the U.S. as a whole, most 
local leaders of all partisan groups give their local communities high marks. Statewide, 92% of both 
Republicans and Democrats say their own jurisdictions are headed in the right direction, as do 80% 
of Independents. 

Local leaders’ evaluations of Governor Whitmer and the Michigan Legislature have declined in the 
past year. Less than a third (30%) currently rate Governor Whitmer’s performance as either 

Page 33 of 87

mailto:closup-mpps@umich.edu


“excellent” or “good,” down from 39% last year. Ratings of good or excellent for the Governor are 
found among 79% of Democratic local leaders, compared with 41% of Independents and just 10% of 
Republicans. 

Meanwhile, 40% say the Michigan Legislature is doing a “poor” job, and only 14% say its performance 
is either excellent or good, the lowest such ratings for the Legislature since MPPS tracking began 
in 2011.  

More detailed information is available in the report itself.

***

CLOSUP is happy to answer any questions you may have and to help you interpret the data. We 
would also be able to produce customized data tables for different groupings of local governments, 
such as responses for all jurisdictions within a particular county.  Our goal is to help inform the 
policymaking process in Michigan at all levels.

The MPPS is conducted by CLOSUP in partnership with the Michigan Association of Counties, 
Michigan Municipal League, and Michigan Townships Association. The survey program is unique in the 
country as the only ongoing survey targeted at every unit of general purpose local government 
across an entire state.

For more information, contact MPPS staff by email at closup-mpps@umich.edu or by phone at 734-
647-4091. More information is also available on the CLOSUP website at: http://closup.umich.edu. 
Follow CLOSUP on Twitter @closup.

Page 34 of 87

mailto:closup-mpps@umich.edu
http://closup.umich.edu/


Page 35 of 87



Page 36 of 87



Page 37 of 87



Page 38 of 87



Page 39 of 87



Page 40 of 87



Page 41 of 87



Page 42 of 87



Page 43 of 87



Page 44 of 87



Page 45 of 87



Page 46 of 87



Page 47 of 87



Page 48 of 87



Page 49 of 87



Page 50 of 87



Page 51 of 87



Page 52 of 87



Page 53 of 87



Page 54 of 87



Page 55 of 87



Page 56 of 87



Page 57 of 87



Page 58 of 87



Page 59 of 87



Page 60 of 87



Page 61 of 87



Page 62 of 87



Page 63 of 87



Page 64 of 87



Page 65 of 87



                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“To recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community”

To: Township Board
CC. Manager Jon Kangas
From: Superintendent of Public Works Leonard Bodenus
Date: July 20, 2021
Regarding: Public Works and B/G Staff Report

590-Wastewater

Various grinder pump replacements.

Our sewer jetter has been down for a couple of weeks. Due to a replacement throttle body being out of stock 
staff is investigating an in house rebuild of this part.

We were pleasantly surprised with the announcement that Marquette Township was awarded a EGLE 
Community Pollution Prevention Fund Grant in the amount of $25,000. This money will help offset some of 
the costs associated with an anticipated 2022 Center Street Lift station standby generator project.
.

591- Water

The Northwoods Tank painting project is complete. The project entailed installing a new tank overflow 
flapper ,tank vent and complete painting. In conjunction with this project a new valve and hydrant was 
installed last week. We anticipate having the tank operational by later this week.

The Ontario road reconstruction project is ongoing. New hydrants and valves have been installed. While work 
was being done, it was noticed that two of our PRV isolation valves had severely corroded. We took the 
opportunity to replace these valves. We will be on the lookout for other repairable items as the project 
progresses. 

Building and Grounds

Staff has replaced the three doors at the Lions Field pavilion. The old doors were dented and didn’t shut 
properly.

Page 66 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp


Dark Store Theory in Michigan’s Upper Peninsula: Impacts and Predictions  

Dark store theory refers to a method of property tax assessment that is often applied to big box
stores (i.e., Walmart, Meijer, Home Depot, etc.) requiring them to be compared to similar, vacant
properties in the same community rather than comparing them to similar stores in other
communities or to less similar properties (e.g., smaller, independently-owned stores). Michigan
tax law stipulates that property must be assessed through comparisons to similar properties, and
the lack of big box stores brought about by the Great Recession, in rural communities especially,
has made comparison difficult and led to the use of dark store theory. Big box stores have
appealed their taxable value under the argument that they should be compared to similar, vacant
properties in the area. The Michigan Tax Tribunal has largely agreed with this argument.

Use of the dark store theory has been contentious across the state, but it has been a big issue in
the rural communities of the Upper Peninsula. The following report will examine the use of the
dark store theory in Michigan and what state law says about property assessment and taxation. It
will also look at the theory’s impact on local governments and property tax revenues in the
Upper Peninsula. The losses incurred as a result of tax assessments being lowered due to the dark
store theory have limited the services local governments are able to provide to their residents.
Finally, the report will look at how the use of the dark store theory affects Michigan businesses:
Is it leading to proper assessments of big box stores, or does it raise questions of equity in
taxation if smaller, mom and pop stores are being assessed at higher levels? These issues are
currently being discussed in the Michigan legislature with both the House and Senate seeing bills
proposed that would change how these big box stores are assessed.

Michigan’s Local Property Tax Landscape Post 2008

Michigan houses 1,856 general-purpose local governments, comprised of 83 counties, 276 cities,
257 villages, and 1,240 townships.1 Local governments in Michigan, both general purpose and
special purpose, are very reliant on the property tax because it is, largely speaking, the only
own-source revenue that these governments have at their disposal. All 276 cities in Michigan can
levy an income tax and 24 cities currently collect this tax from residents and nonresidents who
live and/or work in the city.2 Many local governments also rely on state revenue sharing, which
is distributed through two programs, constitutional revenue sharing and statutory revenue
sharing. Constitutional revenue sharing is distributed to local governments per capita, but
statutory revenue sharing relies on state appropriations and it has been cut substantially over the
last two decades.3

The inherent problems associated with over-reliance on one tax source were highlighted when
the nation fell into the Great Recession, which lasted from 2007 through 2009. This recession,
which was precipitated by the housing market crash, brought about the most severe economic
downturn since the Great Depression. The entire nation was impacted, but Michigan was hit

3 Michigan Department of Treasury. “Local Government Revenue Sharing,” 2019.
https://www.michigan.gov/treasury/0,4679,7-121-1751_2197---,00.html. (cite CRC state rev
sharing report, 2015,
https://crcmich.org/publications/reforming_michigan_statutory_state_revenue_sharing ).

2 Michigan Compiled Laws (MCL) 141.501-141.787.
1 United States Census Bureau, 2017 Census of Local Governments: Michigan, 2017.

Page 67 of 87

https://www.michigan.gov/treasury/0,4679,7-121-1751_2197---,00.html
https://crcmich.org/publications/reforming_michigan_statutory_state_revenue_sharing


particularly hard due, at least partially, to a decline in the profits of the big three automakers in
Detroit and a severe decline in property values across the state. This led to declines in local
property tax revenues, which had a large impact on local government budgets. Some local
governments across the state have still not completely recovered their taxable property values
over 10 years after the end of the recession.4

Up until the Great Recession, property tax revenues were a very reliable source of revenue, but
this recession showed that they cannot always be relied on as a stable source of revenue. In
addition, property tax revenues do not recover as quickly as other tax revenues (e.g., income,
sales) during post-recessionary economic expansions. Declining or slow growing property tax
revenues can be exacerbated in local governments also dealing with declining revenues due to
dark store property reassessments.

Property Assessment and the Determination of Property Values

An individual taxpayer’s property taxes due will depend on their property value and overall tax
rate. The tax rate is the combined rate of all the types of governments that serve that property,
including a county; city, village, and/or township; school district; intermediate school district;
and any special districts (e.g., library or sewer districts). Taxpayers can also owe ad valorem
special assessments, which are not technically taxes, but are levied as additional tax rates against
a property’s value.5 Tax rates, as well as limitations on property taxes, are written into the state
Constitution and statutory law; they are also included in city charters and rates can be raised
(within the limitations written into law) by a vote of the people.

Property values, for both commercial and individual taxpayers, are determined by an annual
assessment process codified in state law. State law allows property assessment to be done at the
county level or the city or township level. The state Constitution requires that real and tangible
personal property be uniformly assessed at 50 percent of true cash value, which equates to a
property’s state equalized value (SEV). The Constitution also requires that the state legislature
provide for a system of equalization of assessments to minimize variations caused by subjective
input from local assessors.6

The passage of Proposal A in 1994 changed the property assessment process by instituting a
modified acquisition value system. Property is still assessed based on true cash value (SEV), but
since 1995 rates have been levied on taxable value (TV), which limits increases in property
values to inflation or five percent, whichever is lower, until property is sold.7 At the point of sale,
property reverts back to SEV. Proposal A also led to property being classified as homestead (i.e.,
a Michigan resident’s home) or non-homestead (includes business property, rental property, and

7 Property values have been held to inflation since 1994 because it has not been higher than five percent.

6 The General Property Tax Act (1893).
Michigan Constitution, Article IX: Finance and Taxation (1963)

5 See Citizens Research Council’s Report 407 – A Distinction without a Difference: Ad Valorem Special
Assessments and Property Taxes, June 2019, for more information on these assessments and how they
are similar to, and different from, property taxes
(https://crcmich.org/publications/a-distinction-without-a-difference-ad-valorem-special-assessments-and-p
roperty-taxes).

4 “Will Property Taxes Be Immune to the Effects of COVID-19?” Citizens Research Council of Michigan,
2020. https://crcmich.org/will-property-taxes-be-immune-to-the-effects-of-covid-19.

Page 68 of 87

https://crcmich.org/will-property-taxes-be-immune-to-the-effects-of-covid-19


vacation homes). Non-homestead property can be assessed additional taxes to fund school
operations.8

Taxes owed are calculated by multiplying the TV of a property by the millage rate levied by the
local unit. Local governments cannot
levy more than their authorized millage
rate based on charter and/or state law.
A taxpayer’s total tax rate is the
combination of the rates of all the
governments it pays property taxes to,
including the state, which levies a 6.0
mill state education property tax.

Example: Taxable Value x Total
Millage Rate = Property Tax Bill

Amount 9

The assessment process allows for an
appeal process, which is referred to as a
valuation appeal and takes places
before the Michigan Tax Tribunal.
Valuation appeals must be filed before
May 31st of the tax year for residential
properties and July 31st for
non-residential properties. Small claims
appeal petitions are submitted online,
generally by the property-owner, and
can usually be settled quickly by an
administrative law judge. Appeals that
deal with larger residential or
commercial claims are settled with an
entire tribunal hearing, which can take

months or even years to complete (see box on Michigan Tax Tribunal).

The Dark Store Theory in Michigan

During the Great Recession, many big box stores and shopping malls were shuttered and became
vacant properties. Once vacant, these properties possess little market value and are rarely
repurposed by other retailers because of deed restrictions placed by the former owners. Deed
restrictions are often placed on big box properties to limit commercial competition by preventing
other companies from opening retail fronts. Due to a lack of demand for vacant retail properties,
they often sell at a fraction of their market value based on when they housed active businesses.
Once the economy began improving after the Great Recession, big box retailers (e.g., Walmart,

9 https://www.michigan.gov/taxtrib/0,4677,7-187-25923-126336--,00.html
8 Office of Revenue and Tax Analysis, School Finance Reform in Michigan: A Retrospective, 2002.

Page 69 of 87

https://www.michigan.gov/taxtrib/0,4677,7-187-25923-126336--,00.html


Menards, Meijer, etc.) built new stores rather than repurpose the old ones. The dark store theory
was born out of this process of old retailers leaving abandoned buildings with little market value
and new retailers building new buildings rather than take over the abandoned buildings.

Following the completion of a new store in Michigan, the city, township, or county that the store
is located in is responsible for determining the true cash value of that property in accordance
with the General Property Tax Act of 1893.10 This value is required by law to be determined by
comparing the selling prices of similar properties in the area.11 This system is generally effective
in determining the values of most residential properties due to a large pool of sales to sample, but
it becomes much more complicated with large retail properties like big box stores that do not
have many comparable properties in a county/area. Local governments assess new big box stores
by comparing them to similar properties that feature active storefronts rather than comparing
them to the vacant buildings left by previous retailers. In rural areas, this process often involves
assessing properties that are outside of unit’s municipality or county.12

Big box retailers have appealed the assessed values of their properties on the basis that counties
have used irregular methods to appraise them. The Michigan Tax Tribunal has jurisdiction of
these appeals and has decided in favor of the big box retailers based on the assessment process
and standards written into Michigan law, namely that local governments are responsible for
determining value based on recent local property sales. This has led to large decreases in
commercial property tax revenues for some local governments across Michigan.

In Michigan and other states, the dark store theory has been especially detrimental to rural areas,
which possess less diversified pools of retailers to base assessments on. Urban areas have a
greater variety of retail properties which local governments can use to assess the value of new
locations. However, a new store in a rural community may not have any other comparable
properties within the same county. Furthermore, rural areas have a less diversified tax base and
are usually more dependent on the tax dollars from one or two big box retailers within their
jurisdiction. With a few exceptions, the majority of Michigan’s dark store appeals have occurred
in the rural northern portion of the state.13

Upper Peninsula Counties and the Dark Store Theory

The dark store theory has had a particularly harmful effect in a number of rural counties in the
Upper Peninsula. This paper takes a close look at five of those counties and their experience with
property tax revenues and dark store appeals.

Chippewa County

Chippewa County is a general law county with a five-member board of commissioners, elected
by district to two-year terms. It had a 2019 population estimate of 37,349 and is made up of one

13 https://www.mml.org/advocacy/dark-stores/

12

https://www.fsbrlaw.com/Resources/Articles/ID/337/Big-Box-Store-Tax-Cuts-Affect-Townships-in-Michi
gan

11 MCL 211.27.
10 MCL 211.1-211.157.

Page 70 of 87

https://www.mml.org/advocacy/dark-stores/
https://www.fsbrlaw.com/Resources/Articles/ID/337/Big-Box-Store-Tax-Cuts-Affect-Townships-in-Michigan
https://www.fsbrlaw.com/Resources/Articles/ID/337/Big-Box-Store-Tax-Cuts-Affect-Townships-in-Michigan


city, one village, sixteen townships, and seven school districts. The county levies a current
millage rate of approximately 8.7 mills.14 County residents pay the county property tax millage
rate, as well as millages to their city, village, and/or township; school district and intermediate
school district; and any other special district or authority.

General Fund Budget. Chippewa County’s total general fund revenue in 2019 was $13.5
million with 61 percent of that total made up of property tax revenue (see Figure 1). The other
major sources of revenue include state grants (11 percent), which includes state revenue sharing,
and service charges (15 percent). The county’s total general fund expenditures in 2019 was $13.5
million as well, with the largest portion of the budget going to public safety costs (34 percent). In
addition, general government (23 percent) and judicial (22 percent) expenditures made up a large
portion of the county budget.

Figure 1: Chippewa County General Fund Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Source: State of Michigan County Financial Dashboard, Chippewa County Revenues, 2019

14 One mill is equivalent to $1 of tax for every $1000 of taxable value. For example, the owner of a property with a

TV of $100,000 in Dickinson County would owe $989.03 in county property taxes for 2019.

Page 71 of 87



Dark Store Theory in Practice. Chippewa County has been through two significant Tax
Tribunal appeals filed by big box stores in the last decade. These appeals have had a substantial
negative effect on the budgets of both the county and the city of Sault Ste. Marie.

Case One: Walgreen Company v. City of Sault Ste. Marie (2015)15

The Walgreen Company filed a dispute for the 2010 through 2013 tax years alleging that Sault
Ste. Marie assessed the values of their property too high. According to the original petition, the
over-valuation resulted from clerical errors on the part of the company and assessment processes
that violated Michigan case law and tax statutes.16 After siding with the company on account of
Michigan statutory law, the Tax Tribunal lowered the property’s TV by approximately $10,000
per disputed year for a total of over $42,000. Chippewa County and Sault Ste. Marie were
ordered to refund the tax revenue collected from the over-assessments for the four tax years in
question.

Case Two: Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust v. City of Sault Ste. Marie (2020)17

Wal-Mart filed an entire tribunal dispute for the 2020 tax year, stating that they had been
discriminated against by the city for their big-box status and had been assessed unlawfully high.
The company, in their petition, proposed new values “based on the guidelines laid out in
Michigan’s Constitution.” The tribunal granted Wal-Mart’s request for consent judgement. The
property’s TV was lowered from $5.7 million to $2.9 million. The tribunal ordered Sault Ste.
Marie and Chippewa County to refund any taxes that had been collected on the over-assessment.

The Chippewa County Board of Commissioners allocated a portion of the 2020 county budget to
the city’s defense in the Wal-Mart dispute. Members of the board have spoken out stating that the
refund issued to the company is “unfair” to locally-owned businesses in Chippewa County that
do not have the resources to file similar appeals.18 The county has issued approximately $25,000
in refunds between the two plaintiffs in the above cases.

Delta County

Delta County is a general law county and is governed by a five-member board of commissioners,
elected by district to two-year terms. It had a 2019 population estimate of 35,784 and includes

18 Statement from Chippewa County Board of Commissioners:
https://www.sooeveningnews.com/news/20200714/tax-loophole-theory-costing-michigan-communities-th
ousands-in-lost-revenue

17

16 Ford Motor Company v. City of Woodhaven, 475 Mich 415 (2006)
General Property Tax Act of 1893:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNam
e=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
Michigan Constitution Article IX: Finance and Taxation:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNa
me=mcl-Constitution-IX

15 Tax Tribunal Court Documents on Walgreen:
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=100797

Page 72 of 87

https://www.sooeveningnews.com/news/20200714/tax-loophole-theory-costing-michigan-communities-thousands-in-lost-revenue
https://www.sooeveningnews.com/news/20200714/tax-loophole-theory-costing-michigan-communities-thousands-in-lost-revenue
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=100797


two cities, one village, fourteen townships, and five school districts. The county levies a current
millage rate of approximately 8.1 mills.

General Fund Budget. Delta County’s total general fund revenue for 2019 was $11.0 million.
Figure 2 shows that property taxes made up 68 percent of the total, making it the largest source
of revenue for the county. The other big sources of revenue are state grants and revenue sharing
(13 percent) and charges for services (10 percent). The county’s general fund expenditures for
2019 totaled $10.6 million with public safety making up 31 percent of the total. Other big-ticket
items in the budget include general government expenditures (23 percent) and judicial costs (26
percent).

Figure 2: Delta County General Fund Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Source: State of Michigan County Financial Dashboard, Dickinson County Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Dark Store Theory in Practice. Delta County has experienced two significant Tax Tribunal
appeals filed by big-box stores in the last five years; both with significant impacts on the budgets
of Delta County and the City of Escanaba. The most recent of these cases has garnered statewide
attention and gone to the State Supreme Court.

Page 73 of 87



Case One: Walgreen Company v. City of Escanaba (2015)19

Walgreen filed a dispute for the 2010 through 2013 tax years alleging that the city had assessed
their property too high due to clerical errors on the part of the company and unlawful assessment
practices by the city. Walgreen claimed this violated Michigan’s case law, constitutional
guidelines, and the General Tax Act.20 The tribunal sided with the company and lowered the
property’s TV by approximately $10,000 per year for a total of around $40,000. Delta County
and Escanaba were ordered to refund any taxes collected from the over-assessment.

Case Two: Menard, Inc. v. Escanaba (2020)21

Menard filed a dispute for the tax years of 2012 through 2014. In the original petition, the
company alleged that Escanaba’s assessment of their property did not abide by the uniformity
requirements of the General Property Tax Act of 1893, which requires that properties be assessed
uniformly in accordance to their classification. The company won and the Tax Tribunal lowered
the TV by $6.8 million total for the three years. Delta County and Escanaba were ordered to
refund the tax collected on the over-assessment.

The city appealed to the Michigan Supreme Court on the grounds that they were refused the
ability to present evidence in the original case. The Supreme Court reversed the decision of the
Tax Tribunal and ordered a new hearing in the tribunal where both the company and city would
be allowed to present additional evidence. The tribunal issued their final decision in May 2020.
The tribunal stated that due to the property’s design it did not have the potential to sell at a
comparable price to the properties the city had used to assess the store. The tribunal lowered the
TV of the property by approximately $2.1 million for each of the three years for a total reduction
of $6.2 million. Additionally, the tribunal ordered the county and city to refund the wrongfully
collected taxes. Escanaba has since filed a motion for appeal with the county’s support.

Local government units in Delta County have expressed concern over the mounting dark store
issue. Menard v. Escanaba resulted in refunds from, and reduced revenue for, the county, city,
public schools, and a community college. Delta County has issued approximately $55,000 in
refunds to companies as a result of the above cases. Additionally, Menard, Inc. reportedly
collected $421,000 in refunds from various units in Delta County.22

Dickinson County

22 Mendard, Inc. Refund Amount:
https://www.bridgemi.com/public-sector/bipartisan-bills-michigan-lawmakers-take-fresh-aim-dark-store-t
axes

21

20 Ford Motor Company v. City of Woodhaven, 475 Mich 415 (2006)
General Property Tax Act of 1893:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNam
e=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
Michigan Constitution Article IX: Finance and Taxation:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNa
me=mcl-Constitution-IX

19 Tax Tribunal Court Documents on Walgreen:
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=100744

Page 74 of 87

https://www.bridgemi.com/public-sector/bipartisan-bills-michigan-lawmakers-take-fresh-aim-dark-store-taxes
https://www.bridgemi.com/public-sector/bipartisan-bills-michigan-lawmakers-take-fresh-aim-dark-store-taxes
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=100744


Dickinson County is located in the southern part of the Upper Peninsula with a 2019 population
estimate of 25,239. The county includes three cities, seven townships, and five public school
districts, and levies a current millage rate of approximately 9.9 mills.

General Fund Budget. Dickinson County’s total general fund revenue for 2019 was $10.0
million. Figure 3 shows that that over 70 percent of that revenue comes from property taxes,
making them critical to the county’s ability to provide services. Additionally, charges for services
and state grants provide 10 and 11 percent of total revenues respectively. Dickinson County’s
2019 general fund expenditures totaled $9.2 million. The largest portion of the budget went to
public safety services (28 percent); however, costs were generally spread across public safety,
general government, judicial, and miscellaneous charges.

Figure 3: Dickinson County General Fund Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Source: State of Michigan County Financial Dashboard,
Delta County Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Dark Store Theory in Practice. Dickinson County has been through three tribunal appeals filed
by big-box stores against different communities within the county in the last decade. These
appeals have had a substantial impact on the county’s budget, as well as the budgets of the
impacted cities and townships.

Case One: Walgreen Company v. City of Iron Mountain (2014)23

The Walgreen Company filed a dispute with the Michigan Tax Tribunal for tax years 2010
through 2013, alleging that their property had been assigned a TV that was too high for all four
years. The company blamed both inaccurate city assessment practices and clerical errors on their
own part for the over-valuation. Additionally, the company presented new proposed TVs for the
years based on the application of Michigan case law24 and the General Property Tax Act of

24 Ford Motor Company v. City of Woodhaven, 475 Mich 415 (2006)

23 Tax Tribunal Court Documents for Walgreen
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Results.aspx?County=Dickinson&DocketNbr=&PetitionerR
espondent=

Page 75 of 87

https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Results.aspx?County=Dickinson&DocketNbr=&PetitionerRespondent
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Results.aspx?County=Dickinson&DocketNbr=&PetitionerRespondent


1893.25 The Tax Tribunal decided in favor of Walgreen Company, stating that the company’s
proposed values were in line with Michigan property tax law. The tribunal lowered the TV for
the location approximately $10,000 per year, totaling about $42,500 for the four years. Dickinson
County and Iron Mountain were ordered to refund the taxes that were wrongfully collected in
those years.26

Case Two: Home Depot USA, Inc. v. Township of Breitung (2015)27

Home Depot filed a complaint stating that Breitung Township assessed the value of its property
too high in 2014 and 2015 due to an error on the part of the township. The company stated that
their property had been assessed based on other properties that were not comparable in violation
of Michigan’s Constitution and state law. The Tax Tribunal held a pre-hearing conference and the
township and Home Depot entered into a consent judgement agreement, which was proposed by
the company and agreed to by the township in order to avoid a hearing. This confirmed that the
TV for the years should be lowered by $3.2 million, approximately $1.6 million per year. The
county and township were ordered to refund the wrongfully collected taxes for 2014 and 2015.

Case Three: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. City of Iron Mountain (2020)28

Wal-Mart filed a dispute against Iron Mountain for the 2019 tax year claiming that the city had
discriminated against them based on their big-box status and had assessed two of their properties
unlawfully high. The company went on to propose new TVs based on its interpretation of the
Michigan Constitution and statutory law. The Tax Tribunal allowed the city and Wal-Mart to
enter a consent judgement, which lowered Wal-Mart’s property value by approximately
$700,000. The county and city were ordered to refund the wrongfully collected taxes for 2019 in
accordance with the General Property Tax Act.

The summative TV reductions from these three cases resulted in an approximate $40,000 of
refunds issued from Dickinson County, in addition to refunds from the local governments.
Additionally, these cases have resulted in a reduced revenue in coming years for the county and
the affected local governments.

Houghton County

28 Tax Tribunal Court Documents for Wal-Mart:
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=132262

27 Tax Tribunal Court Documents for Home Depot:
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=101499

26 See MCL Section 211.53a: “Any taxpayer who is assessed and pays taxes in excess of the correct and lawful
amount due because of a clerical error or mutual mistake of fact made by the assessing officer and the taxpayer may
recover the excess so paid…”

25 General Property Tax Act of 1893:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNam
e=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
Michigan Constitution Article IX: Finance and Taxation:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNa
me=mcl-Constitution-IX

Page 76 of 87

https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=132262
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=101499
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(gvlw1mw21iwgzgu4shecvz54))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Constitution-IX


Houghton County is a general law county with a 2019 population estimate of 35,784. It is made
up of two cities, fourteen townships, and ten school districts. The county levies a current millage
rate of approximately 10.4 mills.

General Fund Budget. Houghton County’s total general fund revenue for 2019 was $10.6
million. Figure 4 highlights the county’s revenues and expenditures; the largest source of
revenue for Houghton County’s general fund comes from property taxes (57 percent).
Additionally, the county gets revenue from state revenue sharing and grants (13 percent) and
charges for services (13 percent). Houghton County’s general fund expenditures for 2019 totaled
$10.7 million with miscellaneous charges making up the largest cost (36 percent). Other big
costs include public safety (22 percent) and judicial (17 percent).

Figure 4: Houghton County General Fund Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

Source: State of Michigan County Financial Dashboard, Houghton County Revenue, 2019

Dark Store Theory in Practice. Houghton County has had one significant Tax Tribunal appeal
in the last decade. The appeal is currently ongoing.

Page 77 of 87



Case One: Walmart Stores East, LP v. City of Houghton (2020)29

Walmart filed a dispute in 2018 stating that their Houghton store had been assigned a TV that
was an unconstitutionally high in comparison to its true cash value for that year. Both the city
and company have since requested to submit additional evidence for their case. Walmart has
included their TVs for the 2019 and 2018 tax years, requesting that each year be lowered by
approximately $700,000. The Tax Tribunal has placed the case on the docket list for March of
2021.

The city and county have expressed commitment to pursuing this case to make changes to the
dark store theory and its success in lowering TVs of big box retailers.30 The potential $1.4
million reduction in the TV of Walmart’s property could result in a $15,000 refund to the
company from the county alone. The potential loss of revenue for the township and the county in
this case could amount to a significant reduction in their budgets over time.

Marquette County

Marquette County is a general law county with a 2019 population estimate of 66,699.31 The
county contains three cities, nineteen townships, and nine public school districts, and levies a
current millage rate of approximately 7.6 mills.

General Fund Budget. Marquette County’s total general fund revenue for 2019 was $26.3
million. Figure 5 shows that the largest source of revenue for Marquette County’s general fund
comes from property taxes (62 percent). Additionally, the county gets revenue from charges for
services (13 percent) and state revenue sharing and grants (10 percent). Marquette County’s
general fund expenditures for 2019 totaled $22.1 million with public safety making up the largest
cost (29 percent). Other big costs include other judicial (19 percent), other uses (17 percent), and
general government (16 percent).

Figure 5: Marquette County General Fund Revenues and Expenditures, 2019

31 Population Estimate from US Census Bureau:
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/dickinsoncountymichigan/PST045219

30 City Manager statement’s on Walmart Case,
http://www.keweenawreport.com/news/local-news/walmart-tax-battle-continues-houghton-council-report/

29 Tax Tribunal Court Documents on Houghton County:
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=129158

Page 78 of 87

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/dickinsoncountymichigan/PST045219
http://www.keweenawreport.com/news/local-news/walmart-tax-battle-continues-houghton-council-report/
https://taxdocketlookup.apps.lara.state.mi.us/Details.aspx?PK=129158


Source: State of Michigan County Financial Dashboard, Marquette County Revenues and Expenditures, 2019.

Dark Store Theory in Practice. Marquette County has been through three significant tribunal
appeals filed by big-box stores against different communities within the county in the last five
years. However, Marquette has experienced multiple appeals from different companies since
2010. These appeals have made a substantial mark on the county’s budget, as well as affecting
the budgets of the impacted cities and townships.

Case One: Lowe’s Home Center, Inc. v. Township of Marquette (2014)

Lowe’s filed a dispute on account of an ad valoreum special taxation related to its big-box status
and location for 2010, 2011, and 2012. The store had been charged an additional fee on top of its
standard tax bill given its placement in a district near a public library in Marquette. The attorney
representing the store notably pointed to the income potential of similar locations to convince the
tribunal of the inequity of the additional fee. Both the Tribunal and Court of Appeals sided with
Lowe’s, requiring a refund from the township and county and limiting the operating hours of the
public library.

Case Two: Target Corporation v. Marquette Township (2015)

Page 79 of 87



Target filed dispute for the TV for the 2014 and 2015 tax years alleging that the township had
assessed their property unconstitutionally high. The company proposed new, lower values based
on their interpretations of the Michigan Constitution and corresponding tax statutes. The Tax
Tribunal sided with Target and accepted their proposed TVs. This lowered the TV of the property
by approximately $1.2 million per year for a total of $2.4 million. The Tribunal ordered
Marquette Township and County to refund the company for any tax collected from the
over-assessment.

Case Three: Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust v. Township of Marquette (2020)

Walmart filed a dispute for the TV of their Marquette property for the 2020 tax year. The
company alleged that their assessment exceeded the amount allowed by the Michigan
Constitution and other tax statutes. The Tax Tribunal set the disputes hearing for July of 2021. If
Walmart wins, the TV of their property will be reduced by approximately $2.5 million.

Case Four: Meijer, Inc. v. Township of Marquette (2020)

Meijer filed a dispute for the 2020 TV of their Marquette store alleging that the township had
assessed their property unconstitutionally high. The company stated their property was assessed
outside of the uniform standards of other commercial locations in the township. The Tax
Tribunal has scheduled the pre-hearing conference for the case in June 2021. If the company
wins the case the 2020 TV would be reduced by approximately $3.1 million.

Marquette Township has reported a loss in revenue totaling $1.2 million in the last decade. The
township went on to report that over $300,000 dollars had been removed from operating funds
for both the county and township. Additionally, the funding for special education service, fire
department, road millage, county dispatch, and public library have all been reduced a direct
result of dark store appeals.32

State Laws and Dark Store Theory

Current state law related to assessing and dark store practices requires assessing units to use
comparable properties when determining property values. Comparable properties have been
defined as similar types of property within the same governmental unit or county. Rural
governments, like those in the Upper Peninsula, have not had comparable properties in their own
units and this has led the big box stores, and ultimately the Michigan Tax Tribunal, to question
the value local assessors have attached to these properties. Big box stores have instead been
compared to similar vacant buildings rather than to other retail establishments in the area (e.g.,
local businesses that are not big box retailers) and this has led to lower property values for the
big box stores.

Many states have begun to address the dark store issue legislatively. In early 2020, the New York
State Assembly passed a bill to clarify assessment practices for commercial properties. The New
York legislation stipulates that assessment must be based on similar properties that are being
used in the same way as the property being assessed. The law elaborates that these properties

32 Local Editorial on Dark Store impacts in Marquette County:
https://www.miningjournal.net/news/front-page-news/2020/08/dark-store-theory-revisited/

Page 80 of 87

https://www.miningjournal.net/news/front-page-news/2020/08/dark-store-theory-revisited/


must be contained within the state, but do not need to be in the same district as those to be
assessed. The significant change in the bill was the need for comparable use, meaning that big
box stores must be assessed based on properties of a similar size which are actively being used as
retail locations.33 Similar legislation has been proposed in Wisconsin, North Carolina, and
Indiana. By providing specific and clear guidelines to local assessors, it creates less confusion for
property owners and local assessors than the previous law did. This increased clarity has the
desired result of reducing instances of commercial property value disputes as well as the loss of
local revenue.

Some policymakers in Michigan have taken steps to pass a similar law at the state level.

Current Michigan Legislative Efforts. In January of 2019 Senate Bill No. 26 and House Bill
No. 4025 were introduced in the Michigan Legislature with the stated purpose of amending the
1973 Tax Tribunal Act, which established the tribunal and the standard procedures for tax
appeals.34 SB 26 and HB 4025 aim to add a new section to the Tax Tribunal Act that would
include several ruling guidelines to the Tax Tribunal’s decision process in entire tribunal appeals.

The first guideline would require the tribunal to consider the current market that the property is
competing in, including the supply and demand for the property, as well as the current and
potential uses of the property. The tribunal would also need to consider the “highest and best”
use of the property in question and other comparable properties in the competing market. This
stipulation would require the earning potential of a given store to be considered in determining
TV; additionally, the cost of construction and age of a property must be considered.

The second guideline stipulates that vacant properties may only be used to assess occupied
properties under specific circumstances, such as the vacant property must have been recently
vacated and under normal circumstances for the current market. Additionally, the property must
have become vacant after operating in the same use as the disputed property. Properties that have
been vacant for long periods and were vacated under different market conditions (e.g., the Great
Recession) cannot be used for comparison in determining values of currently occupied
properties.

These bills are currently under review by their respective committees. The stipulations they
include could potentially streamline and clarify the assessment process for local units as they
relate to big box retailers. With the specified assessment instructions, local assessors would be
enabled to standardize their methods. This, in turn, would result in fewer appeals from
commercial property owners. The reduction in appeals limits the cost incurred by both
businesses and local governments from legal costs.

The legislation would undoubtedly result in a benefit for local governments. The detrimental
effects of dark store practices would largely be eliminated by this legislation. As reflected in the
case studies on counties in the Upper Peninsula, local governments have lost significant portions

34 Link to Senate Bill No. 26:
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2019-2020/billintroduced/Senate/pdf/2019-SIB-0026.pdf

33 New York Bill:
https://rcbizjournal.com/2020/01/31/state-assembly-unanimously-passes-legislation-to-combat-dark-store-
assessment-challenges/

Page 81 of 87

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2019-2020/billintroduced/Senate/pdf/2019-SIB-0026.pdf
https://rcbizjournal.com/2020/01/31/state-assembly-unanimously-passes-legislation-to-combat-dark-store-assessment-challenges/
https://rcbizjournal.com/2020/01/31/state-assembly-unanimously-passes-legislation-to-combat-dark-store-assessment-challenges/


of their revenues and incurred refund costs as a result of commercial property tax appeals.
However, should the bills pass, assessment bodies will be aware of what considerations the
tribunal will take when a property’s value is appealed. Additionally, the legislation would limit
the ability of big box retailers to compare their values to vacant stores in their community. The
Michigan Municipal League and local units across the state have expressed support for the
legislation.35

The bills propose a significant change to the State Constitution and established tax code. The bill
aims to shift the standard assessment practices by compelling assessors and the Tax Tribunal to
consider the potential use of a property in its value. Small business owners are concerned along
with big-box stores about this change. Market-based assessment practices have been the state
standard consistently since the establishment of the General Property Tax Act in 1893.36 Small
and large business alike are classified as “commercial real” for property taxation purposes. Given
that the terms surrounding a potential use-based model are vague in the proposed legislation,
small business-owners may see an increase to their tax bills as an unintended consequence. This
is an issue that could be resolved by eliminating the “potential use” clause from the bills or
establishing a separate legislative initiative to address the income loss incurred by dark store
theory.

Conclusion

As reflected in the above case studies, the dark store theory details the property landscape in
Michigan’s Upper Peninsula. The issue has caused losses in revenue and increased costs for local
governments. The result of these practices has decreased access to locally funded programs and
services to residents who continue to pay their property taxes. Taxpayers and local governments
are understandably frustrated with big box tax decreases.

Some Michigan legislators have aimed to close the dark store loophole through a targeted change
to property assessment practices. From the perspective of communities losing revenue, large
retail locations utilize police and other public services and need to fairly compensate local
governments. While the bills would certainly improve the outlook for these governments, they
are not without criticism. Groups advocating for retail businesses, such as the Michigan Retailers
Association, have stated that the proposed legislation would create an unfair assessment process
for properties that lose value over time. Additionally, the vague terms surrounding a potential use
assessment guideline is concerning business owners.

Given these disagreements, it is not clear whether this legislation will pass at this time. Until the
legislature creates a policy solution to this issue, the standard in dark store appeals will default to
the precedent set by the Tax Tribunal, which has generally sided with lowered TV for big-box
stores. Undoubtedly, the negative effects of dark store theory will continue to be experienced by
rural communities.

36

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectNam
e=mcl-Act-206-of-1893

35 Link to MML Discussion of Legislation:
https://www.mml.org/advocacy/dark-stores/

Page 82 of 87

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(ygfzfsitbmmfmkxbkddyqz5d))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-206-of-1893
https://www.mml.org/advocacy/dark-stores/


                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“Recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community.”

Board Action Item

Board Meeting Date: July 20, 2021 
Agenda Item #: 8.B. 
Proposal: Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Clerk 
Presented by: Clerk Ritari 

Background:
Just to put into writing that what is the practice used currently and to mirror the Salary of 
the Deputy Treasurer position. 

Attachments: 1. 2021 Officer Resolution of Salary - Deputy Clerk

Cost: $ 250.00 Yearly, and $15.00/per hour for any other duties 
that need to be done.

Budget Account: General Fund - Clerk 

Recommended motion:
Approve the Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Clerk. 

Page 83 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp


                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“Recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community.”

RESOLUTION FOR OFFICERS' SALARIES

At a regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of Marquette Charter Township, Marquette 

County, Michigan, held at the Township Hall on the 20th day of July, 2021 at 6:30 p.m.

PRESENT:

ABSENT:

DEPUTY CLERK’S SALARY

____________________moved, seconded by _________________ that the salary for the 
office of Deputy Clerk shall be set in the amount of $250.00 for the date starting 
November 20, 2020 which ends on November 19, 2021, and each year thereafter until 
subsequently adjusted. Also, a payment of $15.00/per hour will be paid for any other 
duties that need to be performed by the Deputy Clerk.

ADOPTED BY ROLL CALL VOTE:

YEAS:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT:

STATE OF MICHIGAN  )
)  ss.

COUNTY OF MARQUETTE )

Randy J. Ritari, the duly qualified and acting Township Clerk of the Charter 

Township of Marquette, Marquette County, Michigan, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that 

the foregoing is a true and complete copy of certain proceedings taken by the Township 

Board of said Township at a regular meeting held on the 20th day of July 20, 2021. 

Township Clerk – Randy J. Ritari 

Page 84 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp


                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“Recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community.”

Board Action Item

Board Meeting Date: July 20, 2021 
Agenda Item #: 8.C. 
Proposal: Resolution of Salary for the Deputy 

Treasurer 
Presented by: Township Clerk 

Background:
With the newly created Job Description of the Deputy Treasurer, this resolution matches 
the Deputy Treasurer's compensation as stated in the Job Description.  

Attachments: 1. 2021 Officer Resolution of Salary - Deputy 
Treasurer

Cost: $ 250.00 Yearly, and $15.00/per hour for any other duties 
that need to be done.

Budget Account: General Fund - Treasurer 

Recommended motion:
Approve the Resolution of Salary for the DeputyTreasurer. 

Page 85 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp


                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“Recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community.”

RESOLUTION FOR OFFICERS' SALARIES

At a regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of Marquette Charter Township, Marquette 

County, Michigan, held at the Township Hall on the 20th day of July, 2021 at 6:30 p.m.

PRESENT:

ABSENT:

DEPUTY TREASURER’S SALARY

____________________moved, seconded by _________________ that the salary for the 
office of Deputy Treasurer shall be set in the amount of $250.00 for the date starting 
November 20, 2020 which ends on November 19, 2021, and each year thereafter until 
subsequently adjusted. Also, a payment of $15.00/per hour will be paid for any other 
duties that need to be performed by the Deputy Treasurer.

ADOPTED BY ROLL CALL VOTE:

YEAS:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT:

STATE OF MICHIGAN  )
)  ss.

COUNTY OF MARQUETTE )

Randy J. Ritari, the duly qualified and acting Township Clerk of the Charter 

Township of Marquette, Marquette County, Michigan, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that 

the foregoing is a true and complete copy of certain proceedings taken by the Township 

Board of said Township at a regular meeting held on the 20th day of July 20, 2021. 

Township Clerk – Randy J. Ritari 

Page 86 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp


                                                          
MARQUETTE CHARTER TOWNSHIP

 1000 Commerce Drive
Marquette, Michigan 49855

          Ph | 906.228.6220
Fx | 906.228.7337

www.marquettetownship.org

Mission Statement:

“Recognize and meet the needs of the Township Community.”

To: Township Board
From: Jon Kangas, Manager
Date: July 15, 2021
Regarding: Manager Report for July 20,2021

It is safe to say that the COVID-19 pandemic is behind us, for now!  These past few weeks have 
been a whirlwind with details being ironed out for the Community Day event scheduled for 
August 7th at Lion’s Field, the wrap up of a record-setting “Catch the Vision” Car Show and 
Cruise at the Westwood Mall and a significant flurry of potential new economic activity.  We 
hope there will be plenty of exciting commercial development news to share in the near future!

There is also plenty of construction activity on-going in the Township, most of which you are 
already aware.  The fire hydrant was installed at the Northwoods Tank, and the painting of the 
tank is also completed.  DPW will begin refilling the tank this week and plan to have it back in 
service by the end of next week.  The tank has to be chlorinated, filled, tested twice for bacteria, 
drained completely, then refilled before being put back into service.  That is a several-day 
process.

Storm sewer work on Ontario Street hit a snag this past week as A. Lindberg and Sons 
encountered bedrock that eventually had to be blasted.  In the meantime, we obtained their 
services to replace a water service line across Ontario that the Township is required to replace 
since galvanized pipe was discovered that may have been connected to lead at some time in the 
past.  These new EGLE rules for lead could prove to be quite costly by the time we satisfy those 
rules.  In addition, two isolation valves at the pressure reducing valve within the Ontario Phase 2 
construction limits had to have the bonnet bolts replaced due to corrosion.  We also intend to 
replace another main valve at Fair Avenue before Lindberg restores the roadway.  All of these 
activities are part of our “dig once” mentality when it comes to infrastructure.  Any work that 
needs to be done is scheduled when the road is being reconstructed so we don’t have to tear up 
new asphalt.

Lenny also received some surprisingly good news this week with the announcement of another 
successful grant application.  The EGLE Community P2 grant is for $25,000 toward the 
installation of a permanent stand-by generator at the Center Street lift station.  This generator was 
supposed to be installed two years ago, but was delayed by the Superintendent retirement and 
associated transition, then by COVID-19.  In the end, we are saving our sewer customers 25% +/- 
of the total construction cost for something we planned to do with or without assistance of outside 
funding sources.  Kudos to Lenny and UPEA for this surprising success story.  Lenny will likely 
provide additional details regarding this grant.

Page 87 of 87

http://www.facebook.com/mqttwp

	1. Call to order
	A. Pledge of Allegiance
	B. Roll Call

	2. Public Comment (3 minutes each)
	3. Board Member Comment in Response to Public Comment
	4. Consent Agenda
	A. Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes of July 6, 202
	July 6, 2021 Board Minutes

	B. Bills Payable in the amount of $253,295.24. Checks
	7-20-2021

	C. Sheriff's Department Activity Report - June 2021
	1. Sheriff's Department Activity Report - June 2021
	Sheriff June 2021

	2. MCSWMA (abbreviated) Packet for 7-21-21 meeting
	MCSWMA Packet fo 072121

	3. University of Michigan Close-up Report July 2021
	Closeup 7-6-21


	D. Correspondence not Requiring Board Action
	1. Thank you from Representative Sara Cambensy Regard
	Thank You From State Representative Sara Cambensy


	E. June 2021 Financial Statement
	1. June 2021 Financial Statement
	June 2021



	5. Approval of the Agenda
	6. Board Education/Privileged Comment
	A. Staff Reports
	1. Fire Department
	July 20 Board report

	2. Public Works
	July 2021 Department Report

	3. Attorney Report


	7. Community Linkage 
	A. Dark Store Theory/Tax Tribunal Update
	Tax Tribunal article-Rural Insights


	8. Policy Discussion, Consideration and Development
	A. Consider Dissolving Road Committee
	B. Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Clerk
	Board Action Item
	2021 Officer Resolution of Salary - Deputy Clerk

	C. Resolution of Salary for the Deputy Treasurer.
	Board Action Item
	2021 Officer Resolution of Salary - Deputy Treasurer


	9. Assurance of Organizational Performance
	A. Board – Committee Updates
	B. DRAFT Committee Reports

	10. Public Comment (3 Minutes maximum)
	11. Meeting Wrap-up
	A. Announcements
	B. Manager’s Report
	07.20.2021 Manager Report

	C. Review of Motions Passed & Assignments, if any
	D. Items for Future Agenda
	E. Board Member Comment

	12. Adjournment

